IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 93,994

DANIEL LUGO,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

A CAPITAL APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH

JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR

DADE COUNTY

CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ
Specially Appointed Public
Defender for Daniel Lugo
LAW OFFICES OF

J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ 6367 Bird Road Miami, Florida 33155 (305) 667-4445 (305) 667-4118 (FAX)

Oral Argument Requested

<u>D.C. v. State</u> , 400 So.2d 825 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981)68
<u>Dixon v. State</u> , 630 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)55
<u>Dixon v. State</u> , 610 So.2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)98
<u>Douglas v. Alabama</u> , 380 U.S. 415, 85 S.Ct. 1074, 13 L.Ed.2d 934 (1965)
<u>Downs v. State</u> , 740 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1999)72,73
<u>Duest v. State</u> , 462 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1985)55
<u>Eddings v. Oklahoma</u> , 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982)85
Ellis v. State, 622 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1993)47,49
<u>Farr v. State</u> , 656 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1995)97
<u>Farrell v. State</u> , 686 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1996)84
Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995)96
<u>First v. State</u> , 696 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)54
<u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u> , 527 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1988)86
<u>Fotopoulos v. State</u> , 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992)48
<u>Fuller v. State</u> , 540 So.2d 182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)80
<u>Garcia v. State</u> , 568 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1990)47,48
<u>Gardner v. Florida</u> , 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977)88
<u>Garron v. State</u> , 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988)78,81

<u>Gavins v. State</u> , 587 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)64
<u>George v. State</u> , 539 So.2d 21 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)77
<u>Ghent v. State</u> , 685 So.2d 72 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)46
<u>Gonzalez v. State</u> , 588 So.2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)
<u>Green v. State</u> , 427 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. den.</u> , 438 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Gross v. State</u> , 765 So.2d 39 (Fla. 2000)51,52
<u>Gore v. State</u> , 719 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1998)79
<u>Hair v. State</u> , 428 So.2d 760 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)68
<u>Halliwell v. State</u> , 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975)93
<u>Hamblen v. State</u> , 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988)97
<u>Hamilton v. State</u> , 547 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1989)95
<u>Hamilton v. State</u> , 678 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1996)93
<u>Hansbrough v. State</u> , 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987)94
<u>Hardwick v. State</u> , 461 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1984)95
<u>Harris v. State</u> , 414 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)77
<u>Heath v. State</u> , 648 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1994)55
<u>Heiney v. State</u> , 447 So.2d 210 (Fla.), <u>cert. den.</u> , 469 U.S. 920, 105 S.Ct. 303, 83 L.Ed.2d 237 (1984)

<u>Henry v. State</u> , 574 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1991)66
<u>H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co.</u> , 492 U.S. 229, 109 S.Ct. 2893, 106 L.Ed.2d 195 (1989)51,52
<u>Hodges v. State</u> , 595 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1992)83
<u>Holland v. State</u> , 636 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 1994)65
<u>Holton v. State</u> , 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990)95
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984)93
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 498 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1986)65
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988)78
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 627 So.2d 70 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)65
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994)93
<u>Jean-Mary v. State</u> , 678 So.2d 928 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)
<u>Johnson v. State</u> , 608 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1992)94
<u>Johnson v. State</u> , 720 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1998)57
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 497 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986)48
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 569 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1990)81
<u>Kearse v. State</u> , So.2d, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S507 (Fla., June 29, 2000)55
<u>King v. State</u> , 623 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1993)89
Knowles v. State, 632 So.2d 62 (1993)97

<u>Kyles v. Whitley</u> , 514 U.S. 419, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995)74
<u>Lackey v. Texas</u> , 514 U.S. 1045, 115 S.Ct. 1421, 131 L.Ed.2d 304 (1995)
<u>Larzelere v. State</u> , 676 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1996)87
<u>Lawrence v. State</u> , 691 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1997)84
<u>Leonard v. State</u> , 386 So.2d 51 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980)64
<u>Lockett v. Ohio</u> , 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978)89
<u>Lockwood v. State</u> , 107 So.2d 770 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959)
<u>Lusk v. State</u> , 531 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)81
<u>Lutherman v. State</u> , 348 So.2d 624 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977)
<u>Mabery v. State</u> , 303 So.2d 369 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), <u>cert. den.</u> , 312 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1975)55
<u>Macklin v. State</u> , 395 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981)
<u>Maharaj v. State</u> , 597 So.2d 786 (Fla. 1992)94
<u>Mahn v. State</u> , 714 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1998)94
<u>Matthews v. State</u> , 366 So.2d 170 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)
<u>Maxwell v. State</u> , 603 So.2d 490 (1992)97
May v. State, 600 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)47

McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1982)56
McKinney v. State, 579 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1991)92
McKinzy v. Wainwright, 719 F.2d 1525 (11th Cir. 1983)
<u>Mead v. State</u> , 86 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1956)64
Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746 (Fla. 1998)72
Meyers v. State, 561 So.2d 1304 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)65
<u>Mitchell v. State</u> , 527 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1992)94
Northard v. State, 675 So.2d 652 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
<u>Pacifico v. State</u> , 642 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)
<u>Padgett v. State</u> , 64 Fla. 389, 59 So. 946 (1912)68
<u>Pardo v. State</u> , 563 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1990)94
<u>Paul v. State</u> , 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980)49
<u>Perez v. State</u> , 689 So.2d 306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)76
<u>Peterson v. State</u> , 376 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979)
<u>Phillips v. State</u> , 608 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1992)73
<u>Porter v. State</u> , 671 So.2d 184 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)48
<u>Porter v. State</u> , 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990)86
Porterfield v. State, 522 So.2d 483 (Fla.

1st DCA 1988)80
<u>Post v. State</u> , 315 So.2d 230 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975)55
<u>Power v. State</u> , 605 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1992)96
<u>Rhodes v. State</u> , 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1989)78
<u>Richardson v. State</u> , 604 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1992)94
Robertson v. State, 611 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1993)92
Rosso v. State, 505 So.2d 611 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)80
Routly v. Singletary, 33 F.3d 1279 (11th Cir. 1994)72
Routly v. State, 590 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1991)73
Rowe v. State, 404 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)62
<u>Ruiz v. State</u> , 743 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1999)77,79
<u>Ryan v. State</u> , 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), <u>rev. den.</u> , 462 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Schremmer v. State</u> , 578 So.2d 392 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)
<u>Sexton v. State</u> , So.2d, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S818 (Fla., October 12, 2000)87
<u>Sims v. Singletary</u> , 155 F.3d 1297 (11th Cir. 1998)
<u>Sinclair v. State</u> , 657 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 1995)86
<u>Singletary v. State</u> , 483 So.2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)

<u>Sosa v. State</u> , 639 So.2d 173 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)47
<u>Spencer v. State</u> , 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994)48
<u>State v. Bowen</u> , 413 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)50
<u>State v. Christian</u> , 692 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1997)98
<u>State v. Conde</u> , 743 So.2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999)46,49
<u>State v. Dixon</u> , 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>State v. Fudge</u> , 645 So.2d 23 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)47
<u>State v. Marshall</u> , 476 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1985)55
<u>State v. Nishi</u> , 521 So.2d 252 (Fla 3d DCA 1988)50
<u>State v. Richardson</u> , 621 So.2d 752 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)
<u>State v. Vazquez</u> , 419 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1982)66
<u>Stewart v. State</u> , 51 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1951)75
<u>Straight v. State</u> , 397 So.2d 903 (Fla.), <u>cert. den.</u> , 454 U.S. 1022, 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d 418 (1981)
<u>Strickler v. Greene</u> , 527 U.S. 263, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999)
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 640 So.2d 1127 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)54
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 583 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1991)83
<u>Thompson v. State</u> , 235 So.2d 354 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970)

<u>Tillman v. State</u> , 591 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1991)86
<u>Traina v. State</u> , 657 So.2d 1227 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995)
<u>Urbin v. State</u> , 714 So.2d 411 (Fla 1998)78,81,82
United States v. Alzate, 47 F.3d 1103 (11th Cir. 1995)
<u>United States v. Arnold</u> , 117 F.3d 1308 (11th Cir. 1997)
<u>United States v. Bagley</u> , 473 U.S. 667, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985)
<u>United States v. De Parias</u> , 805 F.2d 1447 (11th Cir. 1986), <u>cert. den.</u> , 482 U.S. 916, 107 S.Ct. 3189, 96 L.Ed.2d 678 (1987)68
<u>United States v. Dinitz</u> , 424 U.S. 600, 96 S.Ct. 1075, 47 L.Ed.2d 267 (1976)54
<u>United States v. Fernandez</u> , 136 F.3d 1434 (11th Cir. 1998)
<u>United States v. Lemm</u> , 680 F.2d 1193 (8th Cir. 1982)
<u>United States v. Massey</u> , 89 F.3d 1433 (11th Cir. 1996)
<u>United States v. Robinson</u> , 530 F.2d 1076 (D.C. Cir. 1976)
<u>United States v. Turkette</u> , 452 U.S. 576, 101 S.Ct. 2524, 69 L.Ed.2d 246 (1981)50

<u>Walls v. State</u> , 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994)93,94
<u>Washington v. State</u> , 86 Fla. 533, 98 So. 605 (1923).75
<u>Way v. State</u> , 760 So.2d 903 (Fla. 2000)72,73
<u>Wickham v. State</u> , 593 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1991)92
Williams v. Chrans, 945 F.2d 926 (7th Cir. 1991)81
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960)66
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 621 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1993)65
<u>Woods v. State</u> , 733 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1999)94
<u>Woodson v. North Carolina</u> , 428 U.S. 280, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976)84,97
<u>Wuornos v. State</u> , 676 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1995)96
Wright v. State, 586 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1991)48
<u>Zakrzewski v. State</u> , 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998)94
<u>Constitutions</u>
Sixth Amendment, United States Constitution67
Article I, Section 16, Florida Constitution67
<u>Statutes</u>
Section 90.404(2)(a), Florida Statutes65
Section 90.610(1), Florida Statutes65

Section	319.30(5)(b), Florida Statutes2
Section	770.04, Florida Statutes1
Section	775.087, Florida Statutes1
Section	777.04, Florida Statutes1
Section	777.04(4)(b), Florida Statutes2
Section	777.011, Florida Statutes1,2
Section	782.04(1), Florida Statutes1
Section	787.01, Florida Statutes1,2
Section	806.01(1), Florida Statutes2
Sections	810.02(3), Florida Statutes1
Section	812.13, Florida Statutes2
Section	812.13(2)(a)(b), Florida Statutes1
Section	812.014(1)(2)(b), Florida Statutes2
Section	812.014(2)(c)6, Florida Statutes1
Sections	s 831.01, Florida Statutes2
Section	831.02, Florida Statutes2
Section	836.05, Florida Statutes1,2
Section	895.03(3), Florida Statutes1
Section	895.03(4), Florida Statutes1
Section	896.101(2)(a), Florida Statutes2

Section 921.141(4), Florida Statutes1
Chapter 895, Florida Statutes50
<u>Rules</u>
Rule 3.150(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure46
Rule 3.151(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure47
Rule 3.152(a)(1), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure46,47
Rule 3.152(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure56
Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure1
<u>Treatise</u>
2 Weinstein's Evidence Para. 607[03], at 607-17 (1975)68

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

Appellant states that the size and style of type used in his initial brief is Courier 10cpi, 12 point.

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was the Defendant in the trial court and Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, and "T" will designate the trial transcript.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appeal jurisdiction in this case. Defendant was sentenced to death. Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction of final orders of courts imposing sentences of death. See also Section 921.141(4), Florida Statutes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Guilt Phase

Defendant Daniel Lugo was charged by Indictment with numerous counts. In particular, it was alleged that

These counts were: conspiracy to commit racketeering (RICO), in violation of Section 895.03(4), Florida Statutes [Count I]; one count of racketeering (RICO), in violation of Section 895.03(3), Florida

<u>Daniel Lugo joined</u> various other defendants between

Statutes [Count II]; two counts of first degree murder, in violation of Sections 782.04(1) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Counts III & IV]; two counts of kidnapping, in violation of Section 787.01 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Counts V & VI]; one count of attempted extortion, in violation of Sections 836.05, 770.04 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count VIII]; two counts of grand theft auto, in violation of Sections 812.014(2)(c)6 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Counts IX & XV]; one count of attempted first degree murder, in violation of Sections 782.04(1), 777.04, 775.087 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count X]; one count of armed kidnapping, in violation of Section 787.01 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XI]; one count of armed robbery, in violation of Sections 812.13(2)(a)(b) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XII]; one count of Burglary of a Dwelling, in violation of Sections 810.02(3) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XIII]; one count of grand theft second degree, in violation of Sections 812.014(1)(2)(b) and 777.011, Florida Statutes XIV]; one count of possession of removed identification plate, in violation of Sections 319.30(5)(b) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XVI]; one count of first degree arson, in violation of Sections 806.01(1) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XVII]; one count of extortion, in violation of Sections 836.05 and 777.011, Statutes; eight counts of money laundering, in violation of Sections 896.101(2)(a) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Counts XIX through XXVII]; six counts of forgery, violation of Sections 831.01 and 777.011, Florida Statutes (Counts XXVIII, XXXI, XXXIV, XXXVII, XL, XLIII]; six counts of uttering a forged instrument, in violation of Sections 831.02 and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Counts XXX, XXXIII, XXXVI, XXXIX, XLII and XLV]; and one count of conspiracy to commit a first degree felony, to wit: abduction and/or robbery and/or extortion, in violation of Sections 812.13, 787.01, 836.05, 777.04(4)(b) and 777.011, Florida Statutes [Count XLVI]. (R. 61-111).

October, 1994, and June, 1995, in committing the aforementioned crimes against two separate sets victims: Krisztina Furton and Frank Griga, and Marcello Schiller and Diana Schiller. Trial commenced in the cause on January 22, 1998. (T. 2495). The court conducted individual voir dire. The court conducted a preliminary hearing on cause challenges. (T. 3552-3586). The court continued with individual voir dire with additional jurors. The court conducted a second hearing on cause challenges. (T. 3868-3873). Subsequently, the court conducted additional individual questioning. A further hearing on cause challenges was conducted. (T. 4387-4388). On February 17, 1998, the court reconvened for additional voir dire. The prosecutor questioned the panel. The defense thereafter questioned the panel. Following this questioning, the parties participated in jury selection. (T. 4697-4731). A jury was selected. (T. 4732-4733). On

² Before commencement of trial in this cause, the court granted a motion for separate juries; one jury for Defendant Lugo and another jury for co-defendants Noel Doorbal and John Mese.

February 24, 2000, the jury was sworn. (R. 3442; T. 4787). The rule of sequestration was invoked. (R. 3442; T. 4785). The court then gave the jury preliminary instructions and read the indictment. (T. 4789-4796; T. 4799-4842). State presented an opening statement. (R. 3442; T. 4842-Defendant's counsel thereafter presented opening statement. (R. 3443; T. 4883-4894). At trial, the State called over ninety (90) witnesses in its case-in-chief. Following testimony of Theresa Merritt, the State rested its case. (R. 4147; T. 11740). Defendant presented his arguments on motions for judgments of acquittal. (R. 4148; T. 11743-11751). The court denied the motions. (R. 4148; T. 11776). Defendant renewed all prior motions. (T. Thereafter, the defense rested its case. 11777). (R. 4151; R. 4155; T. 11929). The defense renewed all previous motions, including the motion for judgment of acquittal. (R. 4155; T. 12293-12294). The court conducted charge conferences. (R. 4156; T. 11907-11915; T. 11974-12043; T. 12052-12096; T. 12363-12373). Subsequently, counsel for Defendant presented closing argument. (R.

4193; T. 12392-12453). The State then presented closing argument. (R. 4194; R. 4196; T. 12455-12508; T. 12522-12571). Counsel for the defense presented a rebuttal argument. (R. 4196; T. 12572-12622). closing Subsequently, the court instructed the jury. (R. 4197; R. Т. 12626-12683). jury retired to 4339-4392; The deliberate. (R. 4197; T. 12684). Thereafter, the court reconvened to consider two jury questions concerning John Raimondo and Defendant's statements to the police. (R. 4197; T. 12699-12703). On May 4, 1998, the court reconvened to accept the jury's verdicts. The court ordered the verdicts sealed until verdicts were to be rendered as to the co-defendants. (R. 4322-4323; T. 12718-12720; T. 12723). After the verdicts were rendered and sealed as to the co-defendants, the court ordered the proceedings to reconvene on May 5, 1998. (R. 4323-4324). On May 5, 1998, the court published the verdicts. (R. 4326; T. 12730-12735). Defendant was found guilty on all counts. (R. 4330-4338). The jury was polled. (R. 4326; T. 12735-12737). The court adjudged Defendant guilty on all

counts. (R. 4326; T. 12743-12744). The verdicts as to the co-defendants were published. (R. 4327). Defendant filed a motion for new trial/ or in arrest of judgment. (R. 4399-4401). The court denied the motion. (T. 12920-12921).

<u>Penalty Phase</u>

In late May, 1998, the court considered certain prepenalty phase motions. (T. 12792-12917). The court made various rulings. (T. 12918-12919). Thereafter, the trial court conducted the penalty phase and sentencing hearings. The State of Florida presented an opening statement. court gave preliminary instructions. (T. 12946-12947). Thereafter, counsel for Defendant presented an opening statement. (R. 4729; T. 12948-12957). Following the testimony of Istaban Furton and Suzusana Griga, the State rested its case. (R. 4729; T. 12992). The defense called Carmen Lugo and Santiago Gervacio. The defense rested. (R. 4730; T. 13061). A charge conference was conducted. (T. 13065-13084). Defendant objected to the CCP and HAC instructions. (T. 13068; T. 13156-13157). The prosecution

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