IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,994

DANIEL LUGO,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LISA A. RODRIGUEZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0109370 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

##

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

further argues that the State must have known that Schiller was going to be indicted federally and that the State's failure to alert Defendant of such constitutes a willful discovery violation. However, this allegation of misconduct on the part of the State is wholly without merit.<sup>10</sup> The State of Florida certainly has no control over the Federal Government's investigations or indictments.

Defendant also contends that the trial court erred by failing to grant a new trial because Dr. Mittleman was investigated by the State Attorney's Office. The allegations do not provide the timing or result of the investigation and thus do not reflect that it had any bearing on the trial. Moreover, contrary to Defendant's assertions, Dr. Mittleman did not give an opinion as to the victims' causes of death. (T. 11682-85) Rather, Dr. Mittleman conceded that he could not even conclusively determine whether many of the injuries to the bodies occurred before or after death. (T. 11684) Although Dr. Mittleman testified concerning the affects of Xylazine on the victims, such testimony was merely cumulative to Dr. Herron's testimony. (T. 11672, 10870-80) Moreover, no one contested at trial that Griga and Furton had been killed, rather the primary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The federal government is a sovereign entity. Heath v. Alabama, 474 U.S. 82, 89 (1985) ("the States are separate sovereigns with respect to the Federal Government").

issue at trial was which Defendant committed the murder. Thus, Defendant cannot establish he suffered any prejudice with regard to Dr. Mittleman's testimony. As such, Defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

#### VIII.

# ANY ERROR IN COMMENTS DURING THE STATE'S GUILT PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS NOT PRESERVED AND DOES NOT REQUIRE REVERSAL.

Defendant contends that he was denied a fair trial due to 8 allegedly improper comments by the prosecutor during closing argument. Defendant argues generally that the comments attacked Defendant's character, expressed personal views and opinions, attempted to inflame the passions of the jurors, and constituted a "golden rule violation. However, the majority of comments were not objected to and therefore unpreserved and the issues raised meritless.

The first comment to which Defendant objects, was merely a reflection upon the depth of Defendant's avarice and the nearly unfathomable lengths of cold, premeditated murder he would reach to satisfy it. (T. 14546) Defendant did not object to the comment. *Id.* Moreover, the State's assessment of Defendant's motive was fair comment on the evidence which established Defendant's crimes were born from his desire for personal wealth. *See Breedlove v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982). The

next comment to which Defendant objects referenced the continuing and serial aspect of Defendant's targets pertaining to Defendant's RICO crimes. (T. 12462) Again,

Defendant did not object to this comment. *Id.* Nonetheless, the State was merely emphasizing the continuing aspect of Defendant's criminal enterprise. The evidence established that Defendant had selected three separate sets of victims and gave no indication his enterprise would have ceased but for his arrest.

The third comment raised by Defendant on appeal, was the State's response to Defendant's argument in his closing that Delgado testified he was involved in Medicare fraud with Schiller, and therefore Schiller was not a credible witness. (T. 12401-3) Accordingly, the State reiterated the focus of the trial was the crimes Defendant was charged with in the instant case, and not allegations that Schiller committed uncharged and unrelated fraud. Similarly, the fourth comment merely revisited Defendant's impugning of Schiller for alleged Medicare fraud and emphasized the immateriality of such allegations in the face of the evidence that Defendant tortured Schiller to extort his assets. (T. 12464-65). Again, Defendant did not object to this comment. *Id.* Moreover, the recap of Schiller's abduction and torture is firmly supported by the evidence. Indeed, Schiller

was put down on the floor, hands and feet bound, eyes taped, and held hostage for four weeks until Defendant had secured the release of all Schiller's assets. (T.6659-60, 6690-91, 8224-25)

Next, Defendant contends two golden rule violations merit reversal. However, Defendant objected to neither comment. (T. 12458, 12496) Regarding the first comment, Defendant claims that the prosecutor inserted her personal opinion regarding the guilt of the Defendant. However, her comment merely implied that the jurors knew who committed the crimes by the overwhelming evidence presented at trial, a conclusion supported by the evidence. This comment is not fairly interpreted as the prosecutor injecting her personal feelings regarding the Defendant's guilt.

The remaining comments raised in Defendant's brief all concern the prosecutor's response to Defendant's defense theme that Delgado, Pierre, Schiller and Petrescu were all liars and therefore not credible witnesses. (T. 12540, 12547, 12570) Each comment refers to specific testimony that established Defendant, indeed, lied. Defendant's probation officer testified Defendant represented that he was paying off the balance of his probation restitution via a sale of a computer program to Mese, when in reality the payment was derived from the laundered money extorted from the Schiller. (T. 9176) Defendant lied repeatedly

to Petrescu, telling her, including but not limited to: that he was stockbroker, that he worked for the C.I.A., that Doorbal's were handcuffs merely sex toys rather than kidnaping accouterment, that Lee was a Palestinian terrorist he intended on kidnaping for payment, and that Griga was wanted by the F.B.I. for unreported income (T. 9654, 9689-91, 9721) Defendant lied to Salgar concerning Schiller's sudden disappearance, representing that Schiller had moved to Columbia and his house was going to be used for dignitaries. (T. 6261-65) He lied to Griga, setting up meetings under the false pretenses of business ventures. (T. 5055-56) Defendant directed the matrix of lies that Schiller was coerced into telling his wife and bankers. (T. 8231, 10998-99, 6662, 8228, 6697-98) Likewise, Defendant misrepresented to Blanco that Schiller wanted to change the ownership of his house. (T. 6232-33) Similarly, Defendant lied to Murphy, his stockbroker, regarding the opening of an account for a fictitious Thomas Lewis. (Т. 8770-80) Defendant represented to police he would lead them to the bodies of the victims in exchange for an agreement that the eventual jury hearing his case would be advised he cooperated and then only divulged the location of the torsos, which had been rendered unidentifiable. (T. 10653-61) Defendant lied to the post office clerks, identifying himself as Javier Hernandez. (T. 8528-34)

Likewise, Defendant's treasure trove of false identity cards and foreign passports is unambiguous indicia of deceit. (T. (T.5542-00, 5482-20, 6733-36) However, perhaps most poignantly, Defendant lied to Furton, telling her she would see Griga, who at the time lay dead in a pool of his own blood in the bathroom, if she merely cooperated. (T. 10070-82)

The State's comment on the evidence establishing Defendant's systematic and continuous fabrications and misrepresentations to further the objectives of his criminal enterprise was proper. See Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842 (Fla. 1997) (where no objection was made to prosecutor's comment defense witness lied, this Court found no fundamental error because evidence established that witness's testimony was contradicted by other evidence); see also Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 865 (Fla.1987) (finding that prosecutor's closing argument remarks characterizing defendant's testimony as untruthful and the defendant himself as being a "liar" did not exceed the bounds of proper argument in view of the record evidence).

In order to preserve an issue regarding a comment in closing, a defendant must interpose a contemporaneous objection to the comment. *See McDonald v. State*, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); *Chandler v. State*, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997); *Kilgore v. State*, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). Here,

Defendant did not object at all to any of the comments about which he complains. As such, the issues were not preserved.

Moreover, any error in these comments was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The State's initial closing argument covered over 100 pages of transcript, and the comments were brief. Further, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt. There was abundant testimony of Defendant's planning, orchestration and supervision of the Schiller kidnaping, the attempt to kidnap Lee and the Griga/Furton murders. Independent eyewitnesses placed Defendant with Griga and Furton immediately before they were kidnaped. Given the mountain of evidence against Defendant, any error in the brief comments in closing was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985).

#### IX.

# DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT.

While Defendant references the adoption of issues raised in Doorbal's brief, nothing in the record reflects that Defendant has actually moved to adopt any appellate issues raised by Doorbal. In the event this Court finds any such issues adopted by Defendant by such reference of same, the State will adopt all

arguments raised in its Answer Brief in Doorbal's case. Additionally, Defendant argues that the "cumulative" effect of alleged cumulative errors render his conviction questionable, and therefore he should be granted a new trial. The instant argument should be rejected, where the individual errors alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit. *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). As seen above, all of Defendant's claims are procedurally barred and meritless. As such, this argument should be rejected.

Х

# ANY ISSUE WITH REGARD TO COMMENTS DURING THE STATE'S PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT IS UNPRESERVED AND MERITLESS.

Defendant next asserts that the State made improper comments during its penalty phase closing argument. However, this issue is unpreserved and meritless.<sup>11</sup>

The first penalty phase comment Defendant raises is the State's comment to the jury concerning their oath to follow the law and return a recommendation for death where the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors. (T. 13087-13088) Although Defendant objected, the trial court overruled him, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> An appellate court's review of a trial court's ruling on closing argument is for an abuse of discretion. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990); Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d at 8." Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997).

the comment merely reviewed that the jury should return a verdict recommending death where the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors. The State accurately averred that such was an "awesome responsibility" but that in the instant case the death sentence was appropriate due to the aggravating circumstances of Defendant's crimes. Defendant's objection at trial was overruled because the comment in context was an accurate depiction of the jury's responsibility.

The next comments Defendant raises concern the State's discussion of the aggravating factors that distinguish Defendant's murders from non-capital murders, including the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator and the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator (HAC) applicable to Furton's murder. (T. 13090) Defendant did not object to the first of the two comments regarding the aggravators. The State commented that the evidence of Defendant's purchase of duct tape before hand and the failed first attempt to abduct Griga and Furton, clearly demonstrated that the murders were cold and calculated. Indeed, Delgado testified that Defendant summoned Raimondo while Furton was still alive to complete the murders and dispose of the bodies. (T. 11078-80) Thus, the State was properly commenting on how the evidence illustrated the CCP aggravator. Furthermore, the State's reference to Furton being bound hand and feet by the

duct tape was relevant to the HAC aggravator in her case, as noted by the trial court in its sentencing order. (R. 5560-61)

Although Defendant objected to the second comment, arguing that the dismemberment of the bodies was not relevant to any of the aggravators (T. 13095), the trial court ruled that in conjunction with the evidence that Defendant had plotted the disposal of the bodies before he actually murdered Furton, the evidence of the dismemberment was relevant to the CCP aggravator. (T.13097-98)

The next two comments by the State raised discussed evaluation of the aggravators within the context of consideration for the death penalty. (T. 13099-13100) Again, Defendant did not object to either comment. Within context of the comments, the State merely was reviewing the applicable aggravators that distinguished this case from other murders that do not warrant the death penalty. Specifically, the State Defendant's crimes evidenced a complete emphasized that disregard for human life and were motivated for mere pecuniary gain; that Defendant preferred to literally prey on victims who had made their fortune rather than earn his own living.

The next comment raised by Defendant discussed the evidence that Defendant's father loved Defendant and even accompanied Defendant during his escape to the Bahamas, which rebutted

Defendant's alleged mitigator that he was abused by his father. (T. 13102) Defendant did not object to this comment either. *Id*. In order to preserve an issue regarding a comment in closing, it is necessary to object to the comment. *See McDonald*, 743 So. 2d at 505; *Chandler*, 702 So. 2d at 191; *Kilgore*, 688 So. 2d at 898. As Defendant did not object to these comments, this issue is unpreserved. Even if the issue had been preserved, the trial court would still not have abused its discretion in permitting these comments.<sup>12</sup>

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